
WINBOX INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
永保時國際(控股)有限公司
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code : 474)

2008/09



Winbox International (Holdings) Limited 1annual report 2008/09

Contents

Corporate Information 2

Financial Highlights 3

Directors, Senior Management and Staff 4

Chairman’s Statement 7

Management Discussion and Analysis 9

Report of Directors 12

Corporate Governance Report 21

Independent Auditor’s Report 28

Consolidated Income Statement 30

Consolidated Balance Sheet 31

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 32

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 34

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 36

Financial Summary 86



Winbox International (Holdings) Limited2 annual report 2008/09

Corporate Information

Board of Directors
Ms. Choi Hon Hing (Chairman)
Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky (Executive Director, 
 re-designated as a Non-Executive Director with 
 effect from 17 July 2009) 
Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne (Executive Director) 
Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P.

(Independent Non-Executive Director)
Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P.
 (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul
 (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Audit Committee
Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P.
 (Chairman of Committee) 
Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P. 
Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul

Remuneration Committee
Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P.

(Chairman of Committee) 
Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P.
Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul
Ms. Choi Hon Hing 

Investment Committee
Ms. Choi Hon Hing (Chairman of Committee)
Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky
Mr. Jip Ki Chi, Terence

Company Secretary and 
Qualified Accountant
Mr. Jip Ki Chi, Terence

Solicitors
F. Zimmern & Co.
Suites 1501-1503
15th Floor, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Auditor
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
35/F One Pacific Place
88 Queensway
Hong Kong

Principal Bankers
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
1 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Hang Seng Bank Limited
83 Des Voeux Road
Central 
Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and 
Transfer Office in Cayman 
Islands
Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House, 68 Fort Street 
P.O. Box 609, Grand Cayman KY1-1107
Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share 
Registrar and Transfer Office
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Registered Office
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Place of Business in 
Hong Kong
2nd Floor, Ching Cheong Industrial Building
1-7 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung, New Territories
Hong Kong

Website
www.winboxhk.com



Winbox International (Holdings) Limited 3annual report 2008/09

Financial Highlights

For the years ended 31 March 2009  2008

Operating Results HK$’000  HK$’000

 Revenue 166,505  176,803
 Gross profit 37,945  55,632

Net (loss) profit (22,871) 22,180

Per Share Data HK cents  HK cents

(Loss) earnings per share – basic (5.57) 5.48
Final dividend per share (proposed) 1.20  2.50
Net asset per share 43.04  51.13

Financial Position HK$’000  HK$’000

 Total assets 198,029  251,724
 Net assets 177,097  207,411

Financial Ratios %  %

Gross profit to revenue % 22.8  31.5
Net (loss) profit to revenue % (13.7) 12.5
(Loss) return on equity % (12.9) 10.7
Debt to equity % –  2.3
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Directors, Senior Management and Staff

Directors

Executive Directors

Ms. Choi Hon Hing, 60, is an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Company. She is responsible 

for the overall control and management of the Group. Ms. Choi joined the Group in October 1994 as the 

Director of both Winbox (BVI) Limited (“Winbox (BVI)”) and Winbox Company Limited (“WCL”), after the 

acquisition of Winbox (BVI) by Goodwill International (BVI) Limited and other independent shareholders. 

She has since contributed significantly to the changeover in the management of the Group during the 

course of acquisition by Boxmore Limited and has secured a number of new customers for the Group by 

virtue of her marketing expertise and her business affiliations. Currently, she is also a director of all the 

subsidiaries of the Company other than Winpac SARL and Dardel SAS. Ms. Choi is a director of Gainbest 

Investments Limited (“Gainbest“), a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky, 35, is an Executive Director and will be re-designated as a Non-Executive 

Director of the Company with effect from 17 July 2009. She is the daughter of Ms. Choi Hon Hing and 

the sister of Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne. Ms. Fung graduated with Bachelor’s degrees in Economics and 

Law from the University of Sydney, Australia in 1995 and 1997 respectively. She was admitted as Legal 

Practitioner in the State of New South Wales, Australia in 1997 and commenced her career as a legal 

practitioner in an international law firm, Coudert Brothers, in the same year. She joined WCL in 2001, 

initially assisting the Group in its administrative matters as corporate development manager. Ms. Fung 

became a Director of the Group in August 2004. Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky was appointed as an Executive 

Director of the Company on 16 May 2006. Currently, she is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the 

Company other than Winbox Plastic Manufacturing (Shenzhen) Company Limited. Ms. Fung is a director 

of Gainbest.

Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne, 34, is an Executive Director of the Company. She is the daughter of Ms. 

Choi Hon Hing and the sister of Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky. Ms. Fung graduated with a Bachelor’s degree 

in Interior Architecture from the University of New South Wales, Australia in May 1998. After graduation, 

she worked as an architectural assistant. In 2000, she joined WCL as a designer of the Group’s products. 

Ms. Fung has been involved in many new designs of the Group’s products and is responsible for the 

management of the design and research and development departments. Currently, she is also a director 

of all the subsidiaries of the Company other than Dardel SAS, Winbox Plastic Manufacturing (Shenzhen) 

Company Limited, Winpac Europe Limited and Winpac SARL. Ms. Fung is a director of Gainbest.
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Directors, Senior Management and Staff

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, PhD., J.P., 60, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. 

Dr. Tam is a fellow member of the Association of International Accountants and a fellow member of 

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also an honorary director of Hong Kong 

Watch Manufacturer’s Association Limited and a council member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. 

Dr. Tam is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director of Elegance International Holdings Limited, 

a listed company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Main Board”), 

which is principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of optical frames, sunglasses and optical 

cases. Dr. Tam is currently the Managing Director of Tomson Holdings Limited which is an investment 

holdings company, and is also the Chairman of Artistic Precision Holdings Ltd which is involved in watch 

design, production and trading. Dr. Tam is a Standing Committee member of Chinese People Political 

Consultative Conference in Shandong Province, the People’s Republic of China. Dr. Tam was appointed 

as the Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in March 2006.

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P., 45, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Dr. Hui 

graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Medicine degree and Bachelor of Surgery 

degree and holds the Diploma of Child Health at Royal College of Physicians & Surgeons in Ireland and 

at Royal College of Physicians & Surgeons of Glasgow. Dr. Hui is a registered medical practitioner in 

Hong Kong and has been registered as Specialist in Pediatrics since 2001. Dr. Hui is a member of the 

Royal College of Physicians of the United Kingdom, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Academy of 

Medicine (Paediatrics) and a fellow member of the Hong Kong College of Paediatricians. Dr. Hui is a 

Chartered Financial Analyst Charter holder and holds a MBA degree at Universitas 21 Global. Dr. Hui is the 

Chairman and CEO of Core Healthcare Investment Holdings Ltd (a company listed on Growth Enterprise 

Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Dr. Hui is an Executive Director of Hong Kong 

Health Check and Laboratory Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board, and Town 

Health International Holdings Company Ltd (a company listed on the Main Board). He is an Independent 

Non-Executive Director of SunCorp Technologies Ltd (a company listed on the Main Board). He is the 

Corporate Marketing Director of Quam Capital (Holdings) Limited. He was appointed as an Independent 

Non-Executive Director of the Company in March 2006.

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul, 35, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Leung 

graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics in 1995 and with a Master’s 

degree in Commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia in 1996. Mr. Leung is a Certified 

Practising Accountant in Australia. He was previously a statistician at Dresdner RCM Global Investors Asia 

Limited in 1996 to 1998. In July 1998, he joined Kingsway Company as the financial controller and was 

promoted to director of the company in July 1999. Mr. Leung was appointed as the Independent Non-

Executive Director of the Company in March 2006.
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Directors, Senior Management and Staff

Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant

Mr. Jip Ki Chi, Terence, 39, is the Financial Controller, Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant of the 

Company. He graduated from the Queensland University of Technology, Australia, with a Bachelor Degree 

in Accountancy in 1993. Mr. Jip was admitted as a Certified Practising Accountant of the Australian Society 

of Certified Practising Accountants in 1997. He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants. He has over 13 years of experience in the field of accounting and finance, 

especially in trading and manufacturing companies. Mr. Jip joined the Company in June 2007.
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Chairman’s Statement

RESULTS OVERVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2009 decreased by approximately 5.8% to approximately 

HK$166.5 million (2008: HK$176.8 million) while the Group’s gross profit also decreased to approximately 

HK$37.9 million (2008: HK$55.6 million) for the year ended 31 March 2009. Gross profit margin decreased 

from approximately 31.5% for the year ended 31 March 2008 to approximately 22.8% for the year ended 

31 March 2009, primarily due to rapidly rising labour and material costs, appreciation of the Renminbi 

(“RMB”) in the first half of the year 2008/09. Moreover, due to the turmoil in the financial market during 

the year, the Group’s other income from investing activities had recorded a substantial loss, mainly due 

to impairment loss recognised in respect of available-for-sale investments and change in fair value of 

investments held for trading. As a result, the Group had recorded a loss of approximately HK$22.9 million 

for the year ended 31 March 2009 (2008: gain of approximately HK$22.2 million) and the respective net 

margin decreased from a positive 12.5% to a negative 13.7% for the year ended 31 March 2009. Basic 

loss per share was HK5.57 cents (2008: earning of HK5.48 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

This year was a difficult year for most of the manufacturers in the Pearl River Delta region as the increase 

in material and labour costs, upsurging commodity prices and the appreciation of the RMB eroded the 

margin in the first half of the year, followed by the spectacular collapse in the global economy gave the 

industry, and indeed most labour and material intensive exporters in China, a twin shock. Following the 

global economic downturn resulting from the United States sub-prime mortgage crisis and the global credit 

crunch which significantly softened demand, our customers have been more cautious in placing orders. The 

weakening of the Euro against the U.S. dollar also dampened the demand in the European market. Sales 

became sluggish in the final quarter of year 2008/09. In response to the current unfavourable economic 

conditions, the Group is broadening its product ranges, strengthening the sales force and tightening its 

cost control measures.

The economic conditions have been deteriorating significantly in many countries and regions, including 

our major markets in the United States and Europe, and may remain depressed for the foreseeable near 

future. In order to tackle the coming challenges, we have adopted a more prudent business and financial 

management policy to ensure that we maintain adequate working capital to finance our operations. The 

Group had also launched a round of aggressive restructuring late last year aimed at cutting production and 

administrative costs, controlling inventories and improving the overall management of its manufacturing 

operations. Through the implementation of systematic reports generated by the ERP system and effective 

KPIs (Key Performance Indicators), department heads and line supervisors are thereof becoming more 

sophisticated with the supply chain management. Production efficiency and effectiveness are continuously 

improving through better communication and periodic meetings held among operating departments.
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Chairman’s Statement

In addition, the first stage of the new plant facilities located in Qiao Tou, Dongguan, PRC had been 

completed in late 2008/09. Certain production lines have been relocated to the new facilities to further 

capture the comparatively lower cost advantage. The second stage of the facilities is expected to be 

completed by the end of year 2009/10 and we will gradually shift our existing production lines from 

Longhua, Shenzhen, to the new plant facilities located in Qiao Tou, Dongguan. Since the Group only 

leases the plant facilities from the village committee in Qiao Tou, the relocation process will only has 

minimum cash flow impact.

Despite the uncertainties ahead as the global financial crisis unfolds, we believe that the operating 

environment for manufacturers in the Pearl River Delta region has improved slightly in early 2009/10 as 

commodity prices are reduced as compared with last year’s level and the government of the PRC has 

executed an array of policies, including Valued Added Tax refund, a loosening of lending restrictions and 

a reduction in interest rates, which have been providing positive impact to our operations. Even though 

the coming 2009/10 will continue to be challenging, we are confident that the Group will achieve a better 

performance in the coming years as the global economy is showing sign of recovery.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and all staff members for their continuous 

hard work, dedication and support to the Group.

Choi Hon Hing

Chairman

Hong Kong

16 July 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2009 decreased by approximately 5.8% to HK$166.5 

million (2008: HK$176.8 million). The decrease was attributable to the global economic downturn which 

caused our major customers in the United States and Europe to become more cautious in placing their 

orders, particularly in the final quarter of year 2008/09.

Gross Profit

The Group’s gross profit decreased to approximately HK$37.9 million (2008: HK$55.6 million) for the 

year ended 31 March 2009. Gross profit margin also decreased from approximately 31.5% for the year 

ended 31 March 2008 to approximately 22.8% for the year ended 31 March 2009, primarily due to the 

increase in cost of sales in terms of direct material costs, direct labour costs and appreciation of RMB in 

the first half of the year.

Other Income, Gain and Loss, Change in Fair Value of Investments Held for 
Trading, Change in Fair Value of Derivative Financial Instruments and Impairment 
Loss Recognised in respect of Available-For-Sale Investments

The Group invested in various types of financial instruments including fixed income, equity and derivatives 

with a view to enhance overall return. However, due to the adverse condition and the increasing instability 

of the global financial markets, a total loss of approximately HK$26.6 million (2008: gain of approximately 

HK$5.6 million) was recorded in other income, gain and loss, change in fair value of investments held for 

trading, change in fair value of derivative financial instruments and impairment loss recognised in respect 

of available-for-sale investments. As at the date of this report, the Group does not have any outstanding 

derivative financial instruments.

Distribution and Selling Costs

The Group’s distribution and selling costs as a percentage of turnover were approximately 2.2% (2008: 

2.4%) for the year ended 31 March 2009.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately 4.5% to HK$28.6 million for the year 

ended 31 March 2009 (2008: HK$30.0 million). The difference was mainly due to better cost control.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2009 maintained at a low level of approximately 

HK$0.2 million (2008: HK$47,000).

Taxation

The taxation for the year ended 31 March 2009 decreased by 67.9% to HK$1.5 million. The decrease 

was mainly attributable to decrease in taxable income.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Loss for the Year

The Group had recorded a loss of approximately HK$22.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2009 

(2008: gain of approximately HK$22.2 million) and the respective net margin decreased from a positive 

12.5% to a negative 13.7% for the year ended 31 March 2009, mainly due to the loss in change in 

fair value of investments held for trading and impairment loss recognised in respect of available-for-sale 

investments as mentioned above.

LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group funds its operations principally from internal resources. As at 31 March 2009, the Group 

had cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$54.7 million (2008: HK$75.6 million). The Group’s 

working capital decreased to approximately HK$108.6 million (2008: HK$141.0 million), mainly due to 

purchases of additional available-for-sale investments and payment of dividends. Current ratio (a ratio 

of total current assets to total current liabilities) increased by approximately 51.4% to 6.5 times (2008: 

4.3 times). Gearing ratio (a ratio of total borrowings to total assets other than goodwill) as at 31 March 

2009 was maintained at a minimum level of 0% (2008: 2.0%).

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group generated a net cash inflow from operating activities of 

approximately HK$16.1 million (2008: HK$32.8 million). On the other hand, the Group incurred a net cash 

outflow from investing activities of approximately HK$21.5 million (2008: HK$22.4 million), primarily due 

to additional purchases of available-for-sale investments, which are mainly listed shares held for long-term 

investment purposes. The dividend payment to the Group’s shareholders of approximately HK$10.3 million 

(2008: HK$10.1 million) constituted the major part of the outflow under the Group financing activities 

for the year ended 31 March 2009.

The Group has executed deeds of charge in favour of the financial institutions to facilitate the Group to 

enter into the investment schemes and secure the bank borrowings. The deeds are secured by the charge 

over the assets of the Group held by these financial institutions, including investments held for trading, 

available-for-sale investments and bank balances. As at 31 March 2009, total assets of the Group charged 

in favour of the financial institutions were approximately HK$39.1 million (2008: HK$65.2 million). The 

Group has pledged its leasehold buildings with a carrying value of approximately HK$3.2 million (2008: 

HK$3.3 million) and bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$5.3 million (2008: nil) to secure general 

banking facilities granted to the Group. As at 31 March 2009, the Group did not have any outstanding 

investment schemes and bank borrowings and did not utilise any of the banking facilities granted.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no significant capital commitments as at 31 March 2009.

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at the close of business on 31 March 2009.
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES

The net foreign exchange loss for the year ended 31 March 2009 was approximately HK$5.8 million 

compared to the net foreign exchange gain of approximately HK$0.6 million for the corresponding 

period in 2008. The Group’s foreign exchange risks arise mainly from the mismatch between the currency 

of its sales, purchases and operating expenses. Its sales are denominated in US dollars (“USD”), Euros 

(“EUR”) and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”). The Group’s purchases and expenses are mostly denominated 

in HKD and RMB, and some in USD and EUR. The Group has certain foreign currency investments held 

for trading, available-for-sale investments and investment in foreign operations, which are exposed to 

foreign currency exchange risk. As HKD is pegged to USD, the Group does not expect any significant 

foreign currency exposure arising from the fluctuation of the USD/HKD exchange rates. During the year 

ended 31 March 2009, HKD against EUR and RMB have experienced an increase of approximately 16.9% 

and a decrease of approximately 1.3% respectively. The unfavourable currency exchange rate movement 

has had an adverse impact on the Group’s results. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 

hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging 

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

EMPLOYMENT AND SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had a total of approximately 1,031 employees in the PRC, Hong Kong 

and France. Remuneration packages for the employees are maintained at a competitive level in the relevant 

jurisdiction, within which employees are attracted, retained and motivated. Remuneration packages are 

reviewed periodically.

A summary of the share option schemes of the Group is set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND 
DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any significant investments, material acquisitions and disposals during the year 

ended 31 March 2009.
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Report of Directors

The Directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their annual report and the audited financial 

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2009.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company and provis ion of management service to its 

subsidiaries.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2009.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009 are set out in the consolidated income 

statement for the year ended 31 March 2009 on page 30 of this annual report.

Dividends amounting to approximately HK$10,287,000 were paid to the shareholders during this financial year. 

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.012 per share to the shareholders 

on the register of members on 20 August 2009, amounting to approximately HK$4,938,000.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2009 were approximately 

HK$12,501,000, being the retained profit.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year under review are set out in the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 32 and 33 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 17 to 

the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.

Share Capital

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2009.
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association although there 

are no restrictions against such rights under the Companies Law in the Cayman Islands.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years ended 31 

March 2009 is set out on page 86 of this annual report.

Purchase, Sales or Redemption of Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 

securities during the year ended 31 March 2009.

Directors

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Choi Hon Hing (Chairman)

Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky (re-designated as a Non-Executive Director with effect from 17 July 2009)

Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P.

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P.

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul

Each of the Directors is subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles of 

Association. Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky, Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne and Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P. shall 

retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 4 to 

6 of this annual report.
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Directors Service Contracts

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three 

years commencing from 1 May 2006. Each service contract will continue thereafter until terminated by 

not less than two months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting 

has a service contract with any company in the Group which is not determinable by the Group within 

one year without compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has confirmed their independence pursuant to Rule 

3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The 

Company considers all of the Independent Non-Executive Directors independent.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions 
in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company and Its 
Associated Corporations

As at 31 March 2009, the interests of the Directors or their associates in shares, underlying shares and 

debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities 

and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company 

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules 

(the “Model Code”), were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company:

    Approximate

    Number of percentage

Number of underlying  of

   shares shares total

of the  of the   issued

  Nature of Company Company share

Name of Director Capacity Interest  held  held Total capital

Ms. Choi Hon Hing Beneficial owner Personal interest 2,966,588 1,777,725

    (Note 1)

Interest of a controlled Corporate interest 706,556 –

corporation  (Note 2)

Beneficiary of trust Other interest 160,000,000 –

   (Note 3)

Interest of spouse Spouse interest 43,640,117 600,000 209,690,986 50.95%

    (Note 4)

Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky Beneficial owner Personal interest 1,803,958 1,333,304

    (Note 1)

Beneficiary of trust Other interest 160,000,000 – 163,137,262 39.64%

   (Note 3)

Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Beneficial owner Personal interest 1,999,958 1,333,304

 Wynne  (Note 1)

Beneficiary of trust Other interest 160,000,000 – 163,333,262 39.69%

   (Note 3)

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Beneficial owner Personal interest – 400,000 400,000 0.09%

 Tommy, J.P.  (Note 5)

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Beneficial owner Personal interest – 400,000 400,000 0.09%

 Ronnie, J.P.  (Note 5)

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Beneficial owner Personal interest – 400,000 400,000 0.09%

 Paul  (Note 5)

Notes:

1. These interests represented the interests in underlying shares in respect of share options granted by the Company 
to these Directors as beneficial owners under the Pre-Listing Share Option Scheme adopted on 16 May 2006, 
the details of which are set out in the details of movements in the share options on note 33 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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2. Ms. Choi Hon Hing has a beneficial interest in Bo Hing Limited (“Bo Hing”), which was interested in 706,556 
shares in the Company as at 31 March 2009, representing approximately 0.17% of the issued share capital of 
the Company.

3. The three references to 160,000,000 shares relate to the same block of shares held by Gainbest Investments 
Limited (“Gainbest”) which is a company wholly owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited as the trustee of 
a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Fung Ka Pun, the spouse of Ms. Choi Hon Hing, of which the discretionary 
objects include but not limited to Ms. Choi Hon Hing, Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky and Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne. 
Gainbest is a substantial shareholder of the Company and its shareholding in the Company is set out in the 
section headed “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the 
Company” of this report.

4. These interests represented Ms. Choi Hon Hing’s spouse interest in 600,000 underlying shares in respect of share 
options granted by the Company to Mr. Fung Ka Pun, spouse of Ms. Choi Hon Hing, the details of which are set 
out in the details of movements in the share options on note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

5. These interests represented the interests in underlying shares in respect of share options granted by the Company 
to these Directors as beneficial owners under the Share Option Scheme (“Post–Listing Scheme”) adopted on 
16 May 2006, the details of which are set out in the details of movements in the share options on note 33 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of the Directors or their associates had any 

interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of, the Company or any of its 

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to 

be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to the Model Code.

Share Option Schemes

Particulars of the Company’s share option schemes and details of movements in the share options are set 

out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares 
and Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 March 2009, the following entities have interests or short positions of 5% or more in the shares 

and underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders 

maintained under Section 336 of the SFO or had otherwise notified to the Company:
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Approximate

Number of percentage

Number of underlying  of the

shares of the shares of the  total issued

Name Company held Company held Capacity share capital

Gainbest Investments Limited 160,000,000  Beneficial owner 38.88%

(Note 1)

Mr. Fung Ka Pun 160,000,000  Founder of 50.95%

(Note 1)   a discretionary trust

 42,888,567 Interest of controlled

 (Note 2) corporations

 1,458,106 600,000 Beneficial owner

(Note 3)

2,966,588 1,777,725 Interest of spouse

(Note 4)

HSBC International 160,000,000  Trustee of 38.88%

 Trustee Limited (Note 1)   a discretionary trust

Monnie Luck Limited 31,760,000  Beneficial owner 7.71%

 (Note 5)

Yue Xiu Enterprises 31,760,000  Interest of a controlled 7.71%

 (Holdings) Limited (Note 5)   corporation

Goodwill International 42,182,011  Beneficial owner 10.25%

 (Holdings) Limited

Newmark Capital 52,953,402  Beneficial owner 12.86%

 Corporation Limited (Note 6)

Newmark Capital 52,953,402  Interest of a controlled 12.86%

 Holdings Limited (Note 6)   corporation

Mr. Ng Poh Meng 52,953,402  Interest of a controlled 12.86%

 (Note 6) corporation

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, no person (other than Directors) has interests or 

short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the Register 

of Substantial Shareholders maintained under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Notes:

1. Gainbest is a company wholly owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited as the trustee of a discretionary 
trust set up by Mr. Fung Ka Pun, for the benefit of his family members including but not limited to Ms. Choi 
Hon Hing, Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky and Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne as discretionary objects.

2. Mr. Fung Ka Pun has beneficial interests in Bo Hing and Goodwill International (Holdings) Limited, which 
were interested in 706,556 shares and 42,182,011 shares in the Company respectively as at 31 March 2009, 
representing approximately 10.42% of the issued share capital of the Company.

3. These interests represented the interests in underlying shares in respect of share options granted by the Company 
to Mr. Fung Ka Pun as beneficial owner under the Post-Listing Scheme adopted on 16 May 2006, the details 
of which are set out in the details of movements in the share options on note 33 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

4. These interests represented the interests in underlying shares in respect of share options granted by the Company 
to Ms. Choi Hon Hing, spouse of Mr. Fung Ka Pun, the details of which are set out in the details of movements 
in the share options on note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

5. Monnie Luck Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Xiao Boyan as trustee on trust for Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) 
Limited.

6. Newmark Capital Corporation Limited is wholly owned by Newmark Capital Holdings Limited which, in turn, 
is wholly owned by Mr. Ng Poh Meng.

Directors’ Interest in Contracts

Save as disclosed in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009, no contracts of significance 

in relation to the Group’s business (as defined in the Listing Rules) to which the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 

existed at the end of the year or at any time during the year under review.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions 

in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company and its Associated Corporation” above and the option 

holding disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year under 

review was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors 

to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 

body corporate.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 

business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2009.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer 

and five largest customers respectively accounted for approximately 30.8% and 62.2% of the Group’s total 

revenue for the year under review. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier 

and five largest suppliers respectively accounted for approximately 14.0% and 40.1% of the Group’s total 

purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of 

the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in 

the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers for the year under review.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the 

basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of Directors are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s 

operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company did not have any material connected transactions 

which were subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Sufficiency of Public Float

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the 

Listing Rules, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best of the 

knowledge of the Directors.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, comprising three Independent Non-Executive Directors, has reviewed with the 

management of the Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed 

internal control and financial reporting matters including a review of the annual results for the year.
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Auditor

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company will be proposed 

at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Choi Hon Hing

Chairman

Hong Kong

16 July 2009
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The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance practices and procedures. 

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize on a quality board of Directors (the 

“Board”), sound internal control, transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company has applied the principles of the Code on Corporate 

Governance Practices (the “CG Code”), as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 

The Company has complied with the CG Code, save for the deviation from Code Provision A.2.1 of the 

CG Code.

This report describes the Group’s corporate governance practices and explains the said deviation from 

the CG Code.

Board Composition and Board Practices

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the Group’s business management, strategic decisions, 

performance and affairs with the objective of enhancing shareholders’ interest.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises three Executive Directors and three Independent Non-

Executive Directors whose biographical details are set out on pages 4 to 6 of this annual report.

The Board comprises:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Choi Hon Hing (Chairman)

Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky (re-designated as a Non-Executive Director with effect from 17 July 2009)

Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P.

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P.

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul

The Board, led by the Chairman of the Company (“the Chairman”), is collectively responsible for the approval 

and monitoring of the Group’s overall strategies and policies, approval of annual budgets and business 

plans, evaluating the performance of the Group and overseeing the management of the Company. The 

Chairman ensures the Board to work effectively and discharge its responsibilities. All Directors (including 

all Independent Non-Executive Directors) have been consulted on all major and material matters of the 

Company. With the support of the Company Secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”), the 

Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and 

receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
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The Board is of the view that due to the scale of the operations of the Group, it is not necessary to 

appoint a Chief Executive Officer and the Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for the 

management on the daily operations of the Group to the management, department heads and various 

committees.

The Board has at least four formal meetings a year at quarterly intervals and meets as and when required. 

Directors are given written notice of the meetings at least 14 days in advance and agenda with supporting 

Board papers no less than 3 days prior to the meetings to enable the Directors to make informed decisions 

on matters to be raised at the Board meetings.

The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings for the year ended 31 March 2009 is set out as 

follows:

Number of meetings

attended/held

Executive Directors:

Ms. Choi Hon Hing 4/4

Ms. Fung Wing Ki, Vicky 3/4

Ms. Fung Wing Yee, Wynne  2/4

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P. 4/4

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P. 4/4

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul  3/4

Average attendance rate 83%

All Board members have full access to relevant information both at the meetings and at regular 

intervals.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are circulated to the Directors and are open for 

inspection by the Directors.

The Company Secretary shall provide professional advice and information to the Directors. In addition, 

the Directors are able, upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 

circumstances, at the Company’s expense. The Board may resolve to provide appropriate independent 

professional advice to the Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of legal action arising from the business of 

the Group against its Directors.
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Pursuant to Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, every listed issuer is required to have at least three Independent 

Non-Executive Directors, at least one of whom must have appropriate professional qualifications, or 

accounting or related financial management expertise. The Company, with three Independent Non-

Executive Directors, which represented more than one-third of the total Board members; and more than 

one of them has appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or related financial management 

expertise, has complied with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has confirmed his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 

of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-Executive Directors meet with 

the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the 

guidelines. Review will be made regularly on the Board’s composition to ensure that it has a balance of 

expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Group.

Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has been re-appointed by the Company for a term of 

three years starting from 30 March 2009.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, one third of the Directors will retire from office 

by rotation at each annual general meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement 

at least once every three years, which complies with the Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code.

Since all Board members participate in the appointment of new Directors, the Company does not establish 

a nomination committee. All new appointments and re-appointments of the Directors are subject to the 

concurrence of all Board members whose deliberations are based on the expertise and leadership qualities 

of the candidates.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer 

should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company does not separate 

the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer. Ms. Choi Hon Hing, the Chairman, assumes the role 

of chief executive officer and is responsible for the overall control and management of the Company and 

the Group. The Company considers that the combination of the roles of chairman and chief executive 

officer can promote the efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies which will 

enable the Group to capture business opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers that 

through the supervision of its Board and its Independent Non-Executive Directors, a balancing mechanism 

exists so that the interests of the shareholders of the Company are adequately represented.

Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 

“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ 

securities transaction. The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors and all Directors confirmed 

that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code.
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group. 

With the assistance of the finance department of the Company which is under the supervision of the 

Qualified Accountant of the Company, the Directors ensure the preparation of the financial statements 

of the Group is in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. 

The Directors also ensure that the publication of the financial statements of the Group is in a timely 

manner. The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the 

financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report 

on pages 28 and 29 of this annual report.

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and effective internal controls to safeguard 

the shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.

Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition; for 

maintaining proper accounting records; for the reliability of financial information used within the business 

or for publication; and for ensuring the compliance with the relevant legislations and regulations.

The Board also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the internal control system regularly to ensure 

that the policies and procedures in place are adequate.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 

misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and 

achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The key procedures that the Board has established to provide effective internal controls are as follows:

– A comprehensive monthly management reporting system providing financial and operational 

performance indicators to the management and the relevant financial information for reporting 

and disclosure purposes is in place;

– Business plans and budgets are prepared annually by each individual business unit and subject to 

review and approval by both the senior management and the Executive Directors. Monthly reporting 

of significant variances between actual and budgeted figures is done to identify, evaluate and report 

on the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business risks;

– Management structure with defined roles, responsibilities and reporting lines are established. 

Delegated authorities are documented and communicated; and

– Systems and procedures are in place to identify, measure, manage and control all risks that may 

have impact on the Group.
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The Board, through the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), has conducted a review 

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system for the year ended 31 March 2009 including 

financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management processes. The Board, through the 

review by the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the Group has fully complied with the code provisions 

on internal controls during the year under review as set forth in the CG Code.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 16 May 2006 with reference to “A Guide for the 

Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are consistent with the code provisions as set out in the 

CG Code and are available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely:

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P. (Chairman of Audit Committee)

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P.

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul

The chairman of the Audit Committee possesses a professional accountancy qualification and has 

substantial experience in accounting and financial matters. In fact, all members of the Audit Committee 

have diversified professional experience in accounting and/or finance.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to review and to supervise the Group’s financial reporting 

system, financial statements and internal control procedures. It also acts as an important link between the 

Board and the Company’s auditor in matters within the scope of the group audit. Meetings shall be held 

at least twice a year. Additional meetings should be held if the Audit Committee shall so request. The 

attendance of the Directors at the meetings for the year ended 31 March 2009 is set out as follows:

Number of meetings

attended/held

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P. 2/2

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P. 2/2

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul  1/2

Average attendance rate  83%

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited accounts and annual results announcement for the year 

ended 31 March 2009 and the interim report and the interim results announcement for the six months 

ended 30 September 2008. It also reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the audit fee 

proposal for the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group paid Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the external auditor of 

the Group, HK$780,000 and HK$213,000 as audit fees and non-audit related fees respectively.

Remuneration Committee

The Company set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 16 May 2006 for the 

purpose of ensuring that there are formal and transparent procedures for setting up policies in respect 

of the remuneration of Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee consists of four 

members, including three Independent Non-Executive Directors and the Chairman, namely:

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P. (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P.

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul

Ms. Choi Hon Hing

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P.. Meetings shall be held at least 

once a year. Additional meetings should be held if the Remuneration Committee shall so request. The 

attendance of the members at the meeting for the year ended 31 March 2009 is set out as follows:

Number of meetings

attended/held

Executive Director:

Ms. Choi Hon Hing 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Tam Hok Lam, Tommy, J.P. 1/1

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie, J.P. 1/1

Mr. Leung Man Chun, Paul  1/1

Average attendance rate  100%

The Remuneration Committee is governed by the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee 

which is consistent with the terms as set out in the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee has complied 

with the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee for the year ended 31 March 2009. The 

said terms of reference are available on the Company’s website. No Director is involved in deciding his 

own remuneration.

The remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 13 and 14 

respectively to the consolidated financial statements.
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Investment Committee

The Company’s investment committee (the “Investment Committee”) was set up in May 2006 to ensure 

that there are formal and transparent procedures for planning and approving investments for the Group. 

The Investment Committee comprises three members including the Chairman of the Company, a Director 

and the financial controller of the Company, and all investment management and control were performed 

by such Investment Committee. The Group has formalized an investment policy detailing the investment 

objective, decision making, monitoring and risk assessment on the investments to ensure they are in line 

with the investment strategy of the Group.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board is committed to provide useful information of the Group to the shareholders through the 

publication of notices, announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports. Furthermore, additional 

information can be accessed via the Group’s website (www.winboxhk.com).

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and, in particular, to use annual 

general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with shareholders directly.

At the 2008 annual general meeting:

(i)  A separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of each separate issue, including 

the re-election of Directors.

(ii)  The Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee 

attended to answer questions of shareholders.

(iii)  The procedures for demanding a poll by the shareholders were incorporated in the annual general 

meeting circular of the Company dated 28 July 2008 in relation to the general mandates to issue 

and repurchase shares and re-election of Directors.

The 2009 annual general meeting will be held on 21 August 2009. Shareholders shall refer to the 2009 

annual general meeting circular which will be dispatched to them around 23 July 2009 for further 

details.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF WINBOX INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Winbox International (Holdings) Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 30 to 85, which 

comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2009, and the consolidated income statement, 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year 

then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of 

these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the 

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining 

internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 

and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 

the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 

audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements 

are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 

the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 

the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 

directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Group as at 31 March 2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

16 July 2009
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2009 2008

 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000

Revenue 7 166,505 176,803

Cost of sales (128,560 ) (121,171 )

Gross profit 37,945 55,632

Other income, gain and loss 9 (451 ) 7,654

Distribution and selling costs (3,708 ) (4,226 )

Administrative expenses (28,622 ) (29,981 )

Change in fair value of investments held for

 trading (7,941 ) 4,156

Change in fair value of derivative financial

 instruments 855 (4,039 )

Impairment loss recognised in respect of

 available-for-sale investments (19,076 ) (2,200 )

Impairment loss recognised in respect of

 investment property (185 ) –

Finance costs 10 (157 ) (47 )

(Loss) profit before taxation (21,340 ) 26,949

Taxation 11 (1,531 ) (4,769 )

(Loss) profit for the year 12 (22,871 ) 22,180

Dividends recognised as distribution 15 10,287 10,141

(Loss) earnings per share 16

 – Basic (HK cents) (5.57 ) 5.48

 – Diluted (HK cents) (5.57 ) 5.37
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2009 2008
 Notes HK$’000  HK$’000

Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 17 14,847 17,134

Prepaid lease payments 18 3,382 3,469
 Investment property 19 1,090 1,307
 Goodwill 20 10,523 12,670
 Available-for-sale investments 21 34,156 33,010

Pledged bank deposits 30 5,317 –
Deferred tax asset 29 205 –

69,520 67,590

Current assets
 Inventories 23 29,417 33,394
 Trade receivables 24 15,876 25,650
 Bills receivable 24 1,557 490

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 24 12,112 18,256
Investments held for trading 22 12,500 29,779

 Tax recoverable 2,388 1,001
Bank balances and cash 24 54,659 75,564

128,509 184,134

Current liabilities
 Trade payables 25 6,700 14,468

Other payables, deposits received and accruals 25 12,802 19,211
Derivative financial instruments 26 – 4,107

 Bank borrowings 27 – 4,853
 Tax payable 373 473

19,875 43,112

Net current assets 108,634 141,022

Total assets less current liabilities 178,154 208,612

Non-current liability
 Retirement benefits obligations 35 1,057 1,201

Net assets 177,097 207,411

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 28 20,574 20,281
 Reserves 156,523 187,130

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company  177,097 207,411

The consolidated financial statements on pages 30 to 85 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 16 July 2009 and are signed on its behalf by:

Choi Hon Hing Fung Wing Ki, Vicky
 DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Total equity
attributable
 to equity

  Statutory  Share  Asset    holders
Share  Share  surplus  option  revaluation  Special  Translation  Retained  of the

capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits   Company
HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

 (note a)  (note b)

At 1 April 2007 20,000 – –  2,508  –  (5,754 ) 5,961  165,289  188,004

Exchange difference on translation
 of foreign operations –  –  –  –  –  –  7,698  –  7,698
Fair value changes on available-
 for-sale investments –  –  –  –  (3,201 ) – – –  (3,201 )

(Expense) income recognised directly
 in equity –  –  –  –  (3,201 ) –  7,698  –  4,497
Transfer to profit or loss on disposal
 of available-for-sale investments –  –  –  –  (510 ) – – –  (510 )
Profit for the year – – – – – – –  22,180  22,180

Total recognised income and
 expense for the year –  –  –  –  (3,711 ) –  7,698  22,180  26,167

Issue of new shares due to exercise
 of share options 281  985  –  –  –  –  –  –  1,266
Transfer upon exercise of share
 options –  1,529  –  (1,529 ) – – – – –
Transfer – –  2,100  – – – –  (2,100 ) –
Recognition of equity-settled
 share-based payments – – –  2,115  – – – –  2,115
Dividend paid – – – – – – –  (10,141 ) (10,141 )

At 31 March 2008 20,281  2,514  2,100  3,094  (3,711 ) (5,754 ) 13,659  175,228  207,411

Exchange difference on translation
 of foreign operations –  –  –  –  –  –  (5,203 ) –  (5,203 )
Fair value changes on available-
 for-sale investments – – – –  (13,449 ) – – –  (13,449 )

Expense recognised directly in equity –  –  –  –  (13,449 ) –  (5,203 ) –  (18,652 )
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
 available-for-sale investments – – – –  19,076  – – –  19,076
Loss for the year – – – – – – –  (22,871 ) (22,871 )

Total recognised income and expense
 for the year –  –  –  –  5,627  –  (5,203 ) (22,871 ) (22,447 )

Issue of new shares due to exercise
 of share options 293  1,026  –  –  –  –  –  –  1,319
Transfer upon exercise of share
 options –  1,531  –  (1,531 ) – – – – –
Transfer – –  181  – – – –  (181 ) –
Recognition of equity-settled
 share-based payments – – –  1,101  – – – –  1,101
Dividend paid – – – – – – –  (10,287 ) (10,287 )

At 31 March 2009 20,574  5,071  2,281  2,664  1,916  (5,754 ) 8,456  141,889  177,097
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Notes:

(a) As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), before distribution 
of the net profit each year, a subsidiary, Winbox Plastic Manufacturing (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Winbox 
Plastic Manufacturing (Shenzhen)”) established in the PRC shall set aside 10% of its net profit after taxation 
to the statutory surplus reserve. During the year ended 31 March 2009, the board of directors of Winbox 
Plastic Manufacturing (Shenzhen) approved the transfer of approximately HK$181,000 (2008: HK$2,100,000) 
from retained profits to the statutory surplus reserve, which representing 10% of the accumulated net profit 
after taxation (as determined in accordance with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations 
applicable to companies established in the PRC) for the year ended 31 March 2009 (2008: for the period from 
1 January 2004 to 31 December 2006). The reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by the board of 
directors of Winbox Plastic Manufacturing (Shenzhen) and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated 
losses or increase capital.

(b) Special reserve of HK$5,754,000 represents the difference between the nominal amount of share capital 
issued by Winbox (BVI) Limited and the Company and the nominal amount of the share capital of the acquired 
subsidiaries and Winbox (BVI) Limited respectively arisen from a group reorganisation occurred in prior years.
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2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss) profit before taxation (21,340 ) 26,949

Adjustments for: 

Dividend income from available-for-sale investment (59 ) (1,233 )

 Interest income (2,329 ) (3,696 )

 Finance costs 157 47

Allowance for slow moving inventories – 3,337

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and

  investment property 1,650 1,720

Release of prepaid lease payments 87 87

 Share-based payments 1,101 2,115

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and  

  prepaid lease payments – (207 )

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments – (510 )

Change in fair value of investments held for trading 7,941 (4,156 )

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (855 ) 4,039

Impairment loss recognised in respect of  

  available-for-sale investments 19,076 2,200

Impairment loss recognised in respect of investment property  185 –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 5,614 30,692

Decrease (increase) in inventories 3,465 (3,755 )

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 9,518 (9,411 )

(Increase) decrease in bills receivable (1,072 ) 76

Decrease (increase) in other receivables,

 deposits and prepayments 5,962 (4,629 )

Decrease in investments held for trading 9,128 20,111

(Decrease) increase in trade payables (7,384 ) 4,916

(Decrease) increase in other payables,

 deposits received and accruals (5,890 ) 3,167

Cash generated from operations 19,341 41,167

Income tax paid (3,274 ) (8,364 )

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 16,067 32,803
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2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (770 ) (3,167 )

Purchases of available-for-sale investments (20,474 ) (25,802 )

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and  

prepaid lease payments – 1,362

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments 1,904 704

Cash return from available-for-sale investment due to capital 

 reduction 1,113 –

Interest received 1,939 3,306

Dividends received from available-for-sale investments 59 1,233

Increase in pledged bank deposits (5,317 ) –

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (21,546 ) (22,364 )

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Dividend paid (10,287 ) (10,141 )

Interest paid (157 ) (47 )

Repayment of borrowings (4,853 ) –

New bank borrowings raised – 4,853

Issuance of new shares 1,319 1,266

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (13,978 ) (4,069 )

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 

 EQUIVALENTS (19,457 ) 6,370

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 

 THE YEAR 75,564 64,476

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (1,448 ) 4,718

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR, 

 REPRESENTED BY

Bank balances and cash 54,659 75,564
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1. GENERAL
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 September 2005 as an exempted 

company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated 

and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company is a public limited company and its shares are 

listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the 

registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate 

Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management service 

to its subsidiaries. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”), which 

is also the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments and interpretations (“new 

HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which 

are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of financial assets

 (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) – INT 12 Service concession arrangements

HK(IFRIC) – INT 14 HKAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset,

 minimum funding requirements and their interaction

The adoption of these new HKFRSs had no material effect on how the results and financial position 

for the current or prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no 

prior period adjustment has been required.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards, amendments or 

interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 1

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 2

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial statements 3

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing costs 3

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate financial statements 4

HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments) Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation 3

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible hedged items 4

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly controlled

 (Amendments) entity or associate 3

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting conditions and cancellations 3

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations 4

HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Improving disclosures about financial instruments 3

HKFRS 8 Operating segments 3

HK(IFRIC) – INT 9 & HKAS 39 Embedded derivatives 5

 (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) – INT 13 Customer loyalty programmes 6

HK(IFRIC) – INT 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate 3

HK(IFRIC) – INT 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation 7

HK(IFRIC) – INT 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to owners 4

HK(IFRIC) – INT 18 Transfers of assets from customers 8

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 except the amendments 

to HKFRS 5, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, 1 July 2009 and 1 January 

2010, as appropriate.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
5 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009.
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008.
7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008.
8 Effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009.

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s accounting for business combination for 

which the acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting 

treatment for changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary. The Directors of the 

Company anticipate that the application of the other new and revised standards, amendments 

and interpretations will have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the 

Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except 

for certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 

HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required 

by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 

entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has 

the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 

its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, 

as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition 

is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities 

incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 

acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combinations. The acquiree’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3 

Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the 

excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of 

the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the 

Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion 

of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of acquisition 

over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities of the relevant subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost less 

any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented separately in the 

consolidated balance sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each 

of the relevant cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to 

benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been 

allocated is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may 

be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to 

which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year. 

When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the 

unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 

the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount 

of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated 

income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill 

capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents 

amounts receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of 

discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 

outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 

the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s 

net carrying amount.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a 

straight-line basis over the term of relevant lease.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment 

have been established.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use in the production or supply 

of goods or services, or for administrative purposes are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, over their 

estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the 

straight line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the 

derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 

the carrying amount of the item) is included in the consolidated income statement in the year in 

which the item is derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost, including any directly attributable 

expenditure. When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the cost and 

accumulated depreciation of the owner-occupied property at the date of transfer are transferred 

to investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost 

less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is 

charged so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives and 

after taking into account of their residual values, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or 

loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated income statement 

in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a 

straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 

arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised 

as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 

the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an 

operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-

line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building are considered separately for the 

purpose of lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between 

the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance 

lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the lease 

payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for as operating leases.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies 

other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective 

functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 

operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet 

date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on 

the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of 

monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences 

arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value, are included in profit or 

loss for the period except for exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary 

items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the 

exchange differences are also recognised directly in equity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 

Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKD) 

at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses are 

translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly 

during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are 

used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (the 

translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 

which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising on 

an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation 

and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences 

arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in finance costs in the consolidated income 

statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Group’s defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense 

when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group also operates a defined benefit retirement benefit plan. The cost of providing benefits 

is dependent on the length of services and the obligation arises when the services are rendered. 

Measurement of that obligation reflects the probability that payment will be required and the 

length of time of which payment is expected to be made.

The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet represents the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 

as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income and expense 

that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 

deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation 

of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets 

are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 

deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 

temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 

combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit 

nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all 

or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability 

is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when 

it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 

dealt with in equity.

Impairment losses on tangible assets other than goodwill (see the accounting 
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets (other than goodwill) 

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 

the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an 

expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 

the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income 

immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials 

and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing 

the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted 

average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs 

to completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when a 

group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and 

financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 

and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair 

value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 

costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of three categories, including financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial 

assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on 

a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 

require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 

marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 

and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form 

an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 

through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL of the Group comprise of investments held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together 

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured 

at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which 

they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned 

on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, 

loans and receivables (including trade receivables, bills receivable, other receivables, deposits, 

pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not classified as 

financial assets at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments. At each balance 

sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair 

value. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is 

determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 

equity is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment 

loss on financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market 

and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any identified 

impairment losses at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition (see accounting 

policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance 

sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one 

or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future 

cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 

that investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to 

be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective 

evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience 

of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the 

average credit period of 30 to 60 days, observable changes in national or local economic conditions 

that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when 

there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 

at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss 

will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 

assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through 

the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 

recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off 

against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 

to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment 

loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 

losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss 

to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does 

not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be reversed in profit or loss in 

subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly 

in equity. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed to 

profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an 

event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the 

substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability 

and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 

after deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified into 

financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 

and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial 

liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Effective interest method (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL of the Group comprise of investments held for trading.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or

• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together 

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are 

measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period 

in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest paid on 

the financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables, deposits received and bank 

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 

issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are deemed as held for trading. Derivatives are 

initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised 

in profit or loss immediately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, 

the financial assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable 

and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit 

or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 

liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees and others providing similar services

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted 

at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding 

increase in equity (share option reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 

expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, 

if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option 

reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting 

date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option 

reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-

generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the 

Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a 

suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual cash flows are less 

than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2009, the carrying amount 

of goodwill is approximately HK$10,523,000 (2008: HK$12,670,000). Details of the recoverable 

amount calculation are disclosed in note 20.

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 

going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt 

and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The Group defines the capital of the Group as the total shareholder’s equity comprising issued 

share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this 

review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. 

Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure 

through the payment of cash dividends, new share issues, as well as the issue of new debts or the 

repayment of existing debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Financial assets

 Financial assets at FVTPL

  – Held for trading 12,500  29,779

Loans and receivables (including cash and

  cash equivalents) 86,858  117,030

 Available-for-sale investments 34,156  33,010

133,514  179,819

Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

  – Held for trading –  4,107

 Amortised cost 14,006  34,831

14,006  38,938

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables, bills receivable, other receivables, 

pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade payables, other payables, bank 

borrowings, available-for-sale investments, investments held for trading and derivative financial 

instruments. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The 

risks associated with these financial instruments and the polices on how to mitigate these 

risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure 

appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner 

in which it manages and measures the risk from prior year.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales and purchases, which 

expose the Group to foreign currency risk. In addition, the loans from foreign operation of 

approximately HK$31,220,000 denominated in Renminbi and the loans to foreign operations 

of approximately HK$7,788,000 denominated in Euro within the Group also expose the 

Group to foreign currency risk. These intra-group loans do not form part of the Group’s 

net investment in foreign operations. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 

hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will 

consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 

liabilities excluding intra-group balances at the reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2009  2008  2009  2008

HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

United States Dollars (“USD”) 33,374  52,688  710  2,580

Euro (“EUR”) 9,335  22,832  92  1,653

Australian Dollars 6,028  7,493  –  –

Others 2,437  4,857  248  6,646

Sensitivity analysis

As HKD is pegged to USD, the Group does not expect any significant foreign currency 

exposure arising from the fluctuation of the USD/HKD exchange rates. The following table 

details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase in HKD against currencies other than USD, 

assuming all other variables were held constant. 5% is the sensitivity rate used by directors 

in the assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. A positive 

number below indicates a decrease in loss for the year ended 31 March 2009 and an increase 

in profit for the year ended 31 March 2008 where HKD strengthens 5% against currencies 

other than USD. For a 5% weakening of HKD against the currencies other than USD, there 

would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss/profit, and the balances below would 

be negative.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Decrease in loss (2008: increase in profit) for the year 1,602  701

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank balances carried 

prevailing market interest rate. The interest rate risk on bank balances is limited because 

of the short maturity.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate bank 

borrowings as at 31 March 2008. In the opinion of the directors, the Group’s exposure to 

interest rate risk is insignificant and hence sensitivity analysis is not disclosed.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management 

monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure 

should the need arises.

Price risk management

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its available-for-sale investments, investments 

held for trading and derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments represent 

investment schemes entered by the Group with financial institutions. The Group is obligated 

to purchase or sell listed equity securities at a series of pre-determined times, based on 

the price calculated with a pre-specified formula. As the underlying securities of these 

derivatives are equity securities, they expose the Group to equity price risk. The directors of 

the Company manage the exposure by maintaining a portfolio of equity investments with 

different risk profiles.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk management (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to other price risks 

at the reporting date. The sensitivity analysis included those available-for-sale investments 

and held for trading investments carried at fair values. For available-for-sale investments 

measured at cost less impairment as the fair value could not be measured reliably, they have 

not been included in the sensitivity analysis. If the prices of the respective available-for-sale 

investments and held for trading investments had been 10% higher, assuming all other 

variables were held constant, the impact to the Group would be:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Decrease in loss (2008: increase in profit) 

 for the year 1,250  1,648

Increase in equity (2008: increase in equity) 

 for the year 1,377  1,445

If the prices of respective available-for-sale investments and held for trading investments 

had been 10% lower, assuming all other variables were held constant, the impact to the 

Group would be:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Increase in loss (2008: decrease in profit)

 for the year 2,627  1,648

Decrease in equity (2008: decrease in equity)

 for the year –  1,445

10% change in equity price represents the directors’ assessment of the reasonably possible 

change in price. In directors’ opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent 

price risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties failure to 

perform their obligations as at 31 March 2009 in relation to each class of recognised financial 

assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheet. The 

Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of the trade receivables. As at 31 March 

2009 and 2008, five customers comprised over 80% of the Group’s trade receivables. In order 

to minimise the credit risk, the Group has monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 

action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable 

amount of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate 

impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the 

Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on liquid funds deposited with a few major 

banks. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with 

high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages its liquidity risk by monitoring and maintaining a level of cash and cash 

equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and 

mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation 

of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

For derivative financial instruments, which were to be settled on gross basis, as at 31 March 

2008, the Group had approximately HK$14.6 million contractual cash outflow in return with 

listed securities within 1 year. As at 31 March 2009, the Group has no such contractual cash 

outflow as the contracts related to the derivative financial instruments were matured during 

the year ended 31 March 2009.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative 

financial liabilities. It has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 

liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table 

includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

 Weighted

 average Between Between Total Total

effective 1 to 3  4 to 12  undiscounted  carrying

 interest rate months months cash flows amount

% HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

2009

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables – 6,700  –  6,700  6,700

Other payables and deposits

 received – 7,306  –  7,306  7,306

 14,006  –  14,006  14,006

2008

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables – 12,533  1,935  14,468  14,468

Other payables and deposits

 received – 15,510  –  15,510  15,510

Bank borrowings 3.5 4,859 – 4,859  4,853

 32,902  1,935  34,837  34,831

(c) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• the fair value of held-for-trading investments and available-for-sale investments with 

standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are determined with 

reference to quoted market bid prices;

• the fair value of club debentures is determined by reference to the market prices in 

the secondary markets;

• the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative 

financial instruments) is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing 

models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current 

market transactions;

• the fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined using option pricing 

model (including Monte Carlo Simulation and binomial model).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 

recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their 

fair values.

7. REVENUE
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for goods sold by the Group to outside 

customers, less sales tax and sales returns during the year.

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The directors report the geographical segments as the Group’s primary segment information.

Geographical segments

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by geographical market in which the 

customers are located, irrespective of the origin of the goods.

Consolidated income statement
Hong Kong North America Europe Others Consolidated

2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008
HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Revenue 52,998 40,423 9,940 14,986 96,485 114,519 7,082 6,875 166,505 176,803

Segment results 9,801 12,188 720 3,676 10,117 20,873 444 1,600 21,082 38,337

Other income, gain and loss (451 ) 7,654
Unallocated corporate expenses (15,467 ) (16,912)
Change in fair value of investments

held for trading (7,941 ) 4,156
Change in fair value of derivative
 fi nancial instruments 855 (4,039)
Impairment loss recognised in respect 
 of available-for-sale investments (19,076 ) (2,200)
Impairment loss recognised in respect 
 of investment property (185 ) –
Finance costs (157 ) (47)

(Loss) profi t before taxation (21,340 ) 26,949
Taxation (1,531 ) (4,769)

(Loss) profi t for the year (22,871 ) 22,180
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments (continued)

Consolidated balance sheet
Hong Kong North America Europe Others Consolidated

2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008
HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

ASSETS
Segment assets 7,204  9,703  695  3,196  44,489  54,015  465  1,730  52,853  68,644
Other segment assets 16,493  18,329
Unallocated corporate assets 128,683  164,751

Consolidated total assets 198,029  251,724

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities –  –  –  –  4,307  6,038  –  –  4,307  6,038
Unallocated corporate liabilities  16,625  38,275

Consolidated total liabilities 20,932  44,313

Other information
Hong Kong North America Europe Others Consolidated

2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008  2009  2008
HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Additions to property, plant and
 equipment 299  –  –  –  61 368 410  2,799  770 3,167
Depreciation of property, plant and
 equipment
Allocated –  –  –  –  1,039  1,239  –  –  1,039 1,239
Unallocated 579  481
Release of prepaid lease payments 87  87  –  –  –  –  –  –  87  87
Allowance for slow moving
 inventories –  –  –  –  – 1,337 – 2,000 –  3,337

Note: Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group can be allocated by the location of customers in 
Europe. Other segment assets represent prepaid lease payments and part of the property, plant and 
equipment, which cannot be allocated by location of customers as in the opinion of the directors, there 
is no appropriate basis on which allocation can be made.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments (continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets at the balance sheet date, 

and additions to property, plant and equipment during the year, analysed by the geographical area 

in which the assets are located:

Carrying amount Additions to property,

of segment assets plant and equipment

2009  2008  2009  2008

HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

Hong Kong 22,259  27,054  299  2,165

The PRC 12,629  15,110  410  634

Europe 34,458  44,809  61  368

69,346 86,973  770  3,167

Business segment
The Group is mainly engaged in the sale of quality plastic and paper boxes for luxury consumer 
goods. Accordingly, no segmental analysis on business segment is presented.
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9. OTHER INCOME, GAIN AND LOSS
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Dividend income from listed investments held-for-trading 766  1,113

Dividend income from listed available-for-sale investments 59  1,233

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and

 prepaid lease payments –  207

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments –  510

Interest earned on bank deposits 1,376  2,262

Interest earned on unlisted available-for-sale investments 390  390

Interest earned on listed debt securities held for trading 563  1,044

PRC government tax refund from reinvestment of

 a subsidiary (note) 1,540  –

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain (5,757) 570

Sundry income 612  325

(451) 7,654

Note: According to a letter issued by the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) local tax authority dated 27 
May 2008, Grand Cast Limited was eligible to receive tax refund of approximately RMB1,362,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,540,000) due to the additional investment of HK$18,000,000 made 
to its subsidiary, Winbox Plastic Manufacturing (Shenzhen), by utilising the dividend from the retained 
profits of Winbox Plastic Manufacturing (Shenzhen) for the three years ended 31 December 2006.

10. FINANCE COSTS
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable

 within five years 157  47
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11. TAXATION
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Current tax:

 Hong Kong 99  2,198

 Other jurisdictions 2,036  2,571

2,135  4,769

Overprovision in prior years:

 Hong Kong (399) –

1,736  4,769

Deferred tax:

 Current year (note 29) (205) –

Taxation for the year 1,531 4,769

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced 

corporate profits tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment 2008/2009. 

Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable 

profit for the year.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevail ing in the relevant 

jurisdictions.

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New 

Law”) by Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC. On 6 December 2007, the State Council of the 

PRC issued Implementation Regulations of the New Law. The New Law and Implementation Regulations 

change the tax rate from 15% to 25% from 1 January 2008. Pursuant to the Implementation 

Regulations of the New Law, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Winbox Plastic Manufacturing 

(Shenzhen) is entitled to use a tax rate of 18% for the period from 1 April 2008 to 31 December 

2008 and 20% for the period from 1 January 2009 to 31 March 2009 (1.4.2007 to 31.12.2007: 

15%; 1.1.2008 to 31.3.2008: 18%), being the applicable tax rate for foreign invested enterprise 

in the area of Shenzhen Special Economic Zone 深圳經濟特區 for the year.

French profits tax is calculated at 33.3% (2008: 33.3%) of the estimated assessable profit for the 

Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Dardel S.A.S. (“Dardel”) for the year.
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11. TAXATION (continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before taxation per the consolidated 

income statement as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

(Loss) profit before taxation (21,340) 26,949

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%

 (2008: 17.5%) (3,521) 4,716

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for

 tax purposes 5,248  1,924

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (940) (2,233 )

Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries

 operating in other jurisdiction 881  1,027

Overprovision in respect of prior years (399) –

Tax effect of estimated tax losses

 not recognised 44  –

Income tax concession 33  (551 )

Utilisation of estimated tax losses

previously not recognised –  (114 )

Deferred tax on withholding tax arise

 from PRC subsidiary 185  –

Taxation for the year 1,531  4,769
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12. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at after

 charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration 780  825

Allowance for slow moving inventories

(included in cost of sales) –  3,337

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 128,560  121,171

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and

 investment property 1,650  1,720

Release of prepaid lease payments 87  87

Operating lease rentals in respect of rented premises 4,775  3,388

Staff costs:

 Directors’ emoluments 2,650 3,343

Other staff costs

  – salaries, bonus and other allowances 43,499  40,350

 – retirement benefit scheme contributions 4,345  4,668

  – share-based payments 498  933

50,992  49,294
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2008: six) directors were as follows:

2009 2008

  Retirement  Retirement
  Salaries    benefit  Share-    Salaries    benefit  Share-
  and other    scheme  based   and other  scheme  based

Fee  allowances  Bonus  contributions  payments  Total Fee  allowances  Bonus  contributions  payments  Total
HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

  (Note)   (Note)

Executive directors:
Choi Hon Hing –  546  550  12  177  1,285 –  584  600  12  382  1,578
Fung Wing Ki, Vicky –  195  200  9  132  536 –  210  200  9  286  705
Fung Wing Yee, Wynne –  215  100  10  132  457 –  226  100  10  286  622

Non-executive directors:
Tam Hok Lam, Tommy 70 – – – 54  124 70 – – – 76  146
Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie 70 – – – 54  124 70 – – – 76  146
Leung Man Chun, Paul 70 – – – 54  124 70 – – – 76  146

210  956  850  31  603  2,650  210  1,020  900  31  1,182  3,343

Note: Bonus was determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of directors 
and the Group’s operating result.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement 

to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has 

waived any emoluments during the year.

14. EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, one (2008: three) was director of 

the Company whose emoluments is included in the disclosures in note 13 above. The emoluments 

of the remaining four individuals (2008: two individuals) were as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Salaries and other allowances 3,456  2,169

Bonus 165  337

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 235  206

Share-based payments 87  76

3,943  2,788
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14. EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments were within the following bands:

2009  2008

No. of  No. of

employees  employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2  –

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1  1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1  1

During the year, no emoluments or discretionary bonus were paid by the Group to the above 

highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation 

for loss of office.

15. DIVIDENDS
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Dividends recognised as distribution – HK$0.025

 (2008: HK$0.025) per share 10,287  10,141

Proposed final dividends 4,938  10,287

The final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2009 of HK$0.012 (2008: HK$0.025) per share, 

amounting to approximately HK$4,938,000 (2008: HK$10,287,000), has been proposed by the directors 

and is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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16. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity 

holders of the Company is based on the following data:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

(Loss) earnings

(Loss) earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted

 (loss) earnings per share (22,871) 22,180

’000  ’000

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the

 purpose of basic (loss) earnings per share 410,335  404,504

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

 Share options –  8,479

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the

 purpose of diluted (loss) earnings per share 410,335  412,983

Note: The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2009 did not assume the exercise 
of the Company’s outstanding share options since their exercise would reduce loss per share.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 Furniture,

  Buildings    Plant  fixtures
Freehold  on freehold    Leasehold  and  and    Motor

land  land  Buildings  improvements  machinery  equipment  Moulds  vehicles  Total
HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

COST
At 1 April 2007 507  7,005  9,330  3,136  6,455  3,295  7,857  172  37,757
Exchange adjustments 91  1,267  –  –  128  221  12  –  1,719
Additions –  33  –  1,201  555  1,183  195  –  3,167
Transfer to investment
 property –  –  (1,624 ) –  –  –  –  –  (1,624 )
Disposals –  –  (360 ) (246 ) –  (1,177 ) –  (161 ) (1,944 )

At 31 March 2008 598  8,305  7,346  4,091  7,138  3,522  8,064  11  39,075
Exchange adjustments (101) (1,406 ) – – (16) (249 ) 2 –  (1,770 )
Additions – – – –  196  224  109  241  770

At 31 March 2009 497  6,899  7,346  4,091  7,318  3,497  8,175  252  38,075

DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2007 –  403  2,133  2,927  6,223  2,561  7,397  157  21,801
Exchange adjustments –  93  –  –  106  168  5  –  372
Provided for the year –  171  180  368  172  556  268  5  1,720
Eliminated on transfer to
 investment property –  –  (317 ) – – – – –  (317 )
Eliminated on disposals –  –  (51) (246 ) –  (1,177 ) –  (161 ) (1,635 )

At 31 March 2008 –  667  1,945  3,049  6,501  2,108  7,670  1  21,941
Exchange adjustments –  (116 ) – – (9) (207 ) 1 –  (331 )
Provided for the year –  174  147  293  221  516  202  65  1,618

At 31 March 2009 –  725  2,092  3,342  6,713  2,417  7,873  66  23,228

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2009 497  6,174  5,254  749  605  1,080  302  186  14,847

At 31 March 2008 598  7,638  5,401  1,042  637  1,414  394  10  17,134
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment over their 

estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the 

straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land Nil

Buildings on freehold land 2%

Buildings 2%

Leasehold improvements 20%

Plant and machinery 20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

Moulds 20%

Motor vehicles 25%

The freehold land and buildings on freehold land of the Group are located outside Hong Kong.

As at balance sheet date, buildings of HK$499,000 (2008: HK$510,000) are located outside Hong 

Kong and remaining buildings of HK$4,755,000 (2008: HK$4,891,000) are located in Hong Kong. 

The buildings of the Group are held under medium-term lease.

18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:

Leasehold land in Hong Kong 2,643  2,713

Leasehold land outside Hong Kong 739  756

3,382  3,469

The leasehold land of the Group is held under medium-term lease and charged to consolidated 

income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
HK$’000

COST
At 1 April 2007 –
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 1,624

At 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2009 1,624

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2007 –
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 317

At 31 March 2008 317
Provided for the year 32
Impairment loss recognised 185

At 31 March 2009 534

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2009 1,090

At 31 March 2008 1,307

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at 31 March 2009 was HK$1,090,000 (2008: 

HK$1,323,000). The fair value has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal 

Ltd., independent valuers not connected with the Group. The valuation was determined by reference 

to recent market prices for similar properties.

The above investment property is located in Hong Kong, held under medium lease term and 

depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease of 50 years.

20. GOODWILL
HK$’000

COST
At 1 April 2007 10,730
Exchange adjustments 1,940

At 31 March 2008 12,670
Exchange adjustments (2,147)

At 31 March 2009 10,523
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20. GOODWILL (continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to a cash generating unit (“CGU”) arising 

from Dardel, a subsidiary in France principally engaged in sale of quality plastic and paper boxes 

for luxury consumer goods for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing.

The basis of the recoverable amount of the above CGU and the major underlying assumptions are 

summarised below:

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value in use calculations. The key 

assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates 

and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the year. Management estimates 

discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecast. 

Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future 

changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecast derived from the most recent financial budget approved by 

management for the next five years based on an estimated growth rate of 4% (2008: 4%). Cash 

flows for further five years are extrapolated at zero growth rate, which is determined based on 

past performance and management’s expectations for the market development.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flow is 14% (2008: 19%).

The directors considered that no impairment loss is required in respect to the goodwill based on 

the result of the impairment test.

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Available-for-sale investments include:

 Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at fair value 9,036  10,755

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong, at fair value 2,025  3,696

Unlisted equity securities, at cost 15,705  11,805

Club debentures, at fair value 2,710  2,464

Unlisted debt securities, at fair value 4,680  4,290

34,156  33,010

Fair values of listed equity securities are based on quoted market bid price.
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (continued)

The unlisted equity securities are measured at cost less impairment at each balance sheet date because 

the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company 

are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably. During the year ended 31 

March 2009, the Group received cash return of HK$1,113,000 due to capital reduction of a private 

company, which represented a recovery of part of the cost of the unlisted equity securities.

Club debentures are stated at fair values which have been determined by reference to the market 

prices in the secondary markets.

Unlisted debt securities represent debt securities in the principal amount of US$500,000 (or 

equivalent to HK$3,900,000) issued by a private company incorporated in Cayman Islands. The 

debt securities can be converted into shares of this private company if the initial public offering of 

shares of this private company is successful. The debt securities carry interest at 10% per annum 

and expected to be settled together with the principal amount on 1 January 2012. In the opinion 

of the directors, the amount of the embedded conversion option is insignificant.

22. INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Investments held for trading include:

 Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at fair value 3,229  11,477

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong, at fair value 1,033  5,004

Unlisted debt securities, at fair value 8,238  13,298

12,500  29,779

Fair values of investments held for trading are based on quoted market bid price.

The investments in debt securities offer the Group the opportunity for return through interest 

income and trading gains. These debt securities have fixed maturity and will be matured from the 

year of 2009 to 2011 (2008: 2008 to 2011) and fixed coupon rate ranged from 3.625% to 6.25% 

(2008: 3.625% to 6.25%) per annum.

The investments held for trading of approximately HK$9,364,000 (2008: HK$7,346,000) are 

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the respective group entities.
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23. INVENTORIES
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Raw materials 14,748  14,380

Work in progress 4,941  12,059

Finished goods 9,728  6,955

29,417  33,394

24. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Trade and bills receivables

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Trade receivables 15,876  25,650

Bills receivable 1,557  490

17,433  26,140

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are receivables of approximately HK$12,444,000 

(2008: HK$15,649,000) denominated in USD which is the currency other than the functional currency 

of the respective group entities.

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 60 days (2008: 30 to 60 days) to its customers. 

The aged analysis of trade and bills receivables is stated as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

0 to 30 days 13,276  16,401

31 to 60 days 3,060  6,107

61 to 90 days 468  2,626

91 to 180 days 629  1,006

17,433  26,140
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24. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Trade and bills receivables (continued)

In determining the recoverability of trade and bills receivables, the Group considers any change 

in the credit quality of the trade receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the 

report date. The Group considers the trade and bills receivables are determined to be impaired if 

they are aged for more than 180 days based on the management past experience. The directors 

believe that there is no further credit provision required as at both balance sheet dates.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of 

approximately HK$3,109,000 and HK$6,554,000 as at 31 March 2009 and 2008, respectively, 

which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss 

as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered 

recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these 

trade receivables is 62 days and 72 days in the year of 2009 and 2008 respectively.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Overdue by 1 to 30 days 1,758  2,922

Overdue by 31 to 60 days 590  2,626

Overdue by 61 to 180 days 761  1,006

3,109  6,554

Other receivables and deposits comprise amounts receivable from third parties and recoverable 

within one year.

Included in the Group’s other receivables are receivables of approximately HK$8,332,000 

(2008: HK$11,075,000) denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the 

respective group entities.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits carrying 

effective interest at approximate 14% (2008: 2.6%) per annum.

The bank balances and cash of approximately HK$21,034,000 (2008: HK$53,800,000) are denominated 

in currencies other than the functional currency of the respective group entities.
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25. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases. The average credit 

period taken for trade purchases is 30 to 60 days (2008: 30 to 60 days). The aged analysis of trade 

payables is stated as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

0 to 30 days 3,879  6,532

31 to 60 days 1,660  3,007

61 to 90 days 765  2,280

91 to 180 days 396  2,649

6,700 14,468

Included in the Group’s trade payables are payables of HK$1,049,000 (2008: HK$4,519,000) 

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the respective group entities.

Other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for ongoing costs.

26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
As at 31 March 2008, the Group entered into six investment schemes with financial institutions. 

Under the investment schemes, the Group was a party that had an obligation to purchase or sell 

listed equity securities at a series of predetermined times, based on the price calculated by a pre-

specified formula. All of the contracts had a maximum term of one year. The financial institutions 

could terminate the contracts when the market prices of the underlying equity securities were 

higher than a predetermined price. The fair value of investments were determined using option 

pricing model (including Monte Carlo Simulation and binomial model).

The Group executed a deeds of charge in favour of the financial institutions to facilitate the Group 

to enter into the investment schemes and obtain bank borrowing (as set out in note 27). The 

deeds were secured by the charge over the assets of the Group held by these financial institutions, 

including investments held for trading, available-for-sale investments and bank balances. At 31 March 

2009, total assets of the Group charged in favour of the banks were approximately HK$39,100,000 

(2008: HK$65,200,000).

As at 31 March 2009, there were no outstanding investment schemes and bank borrowings. The 

deeds of charge were used to secure the unutilised facilities.
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27. BANK BORROWINGS
2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Bank borrowings – secured –  4,853

At 31 March 2008, bank borrowings were denominated in Swiss Franc, carrying fixed interest 

rate at 3.5% per annum and was secured by a floating charge on certain assets of the Group 

deposited in the bank, including held for trading, available-for-sale investments and bank balances. 

At 31 March 2008, total assets of the Group charged in favour of the bank was approximately 

HK$46,600,000.

28. SHARE CAPITAL
 Number of Share

shares  capital

  HK$’000

Authorised:

 At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and 2009,

  ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each 2,000,000,000  100,000

Issued and fully paid:

 At 1 April 2007, ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each 400,000,000  20,000

 Exercise of share options (note a) 5,626,144  281

 At 31 March 2008, ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each 405,626,144  20,281

 Exercise of share options (note b) 5,866,582  293

 At 31 March 2009, ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each 411,492,726  20,574

Details of the changes in the Company’s share capital for the year ended 31 March 2008 and 2009 

are as follows:

(a) On 12 June 2007, share options for 5,626,144 of HK$0.05 each were exercised at the exercise 

price of HK$0.225. Details of options outstanding and movements during the year are set 

out in note 33.

(b) On 12 June 2008, share options for 5,866,582 of HK$0.05 each were exercised at the exercise 

price of HK$0.225. Details of options outstanding and movements during the year are set 

out in note 33.

All the shares which were issued during the year rank pari passu with the then existing shares in 

all respects.
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised and movements thereon 

during the current and prior reporting periods:

 Withholding tax

 arise from Tax

 PRC subsidiaries losses Total

 (Note)

HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

At 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008 –  –  –

(Charge) credit to consolidated income

 statement (185) 390  205

At 31 March 2009 (185) 390  205

Note: Under the New Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits 
earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

For the purposes of the consolidated balance sheet presentation, certain deferred tax assets and 

liabilities have been offset. 

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unused estimated tax losses of HK$2,855,000 (2008: 

HK$225,000) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in 

respect of HK$2,364,000 (2008: Nil) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 

respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$491,000 (2008: HK$225,000) due to the unpredictability 

of future profit streams. Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
Pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted 

to the Group, and carry average interest rate of 2.2% per annum. As at 31 March 2009, they have 

been pledged to secure undrawn facilities.

31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 31 March 2009, other than the deed secured by the charge over the assets of the Group as 

disclosed in notes 26 and 27 and the pledged bank deposit as disclosed in note 30, the Group has 

pledged its leasehold land and buildings with a carrying value of HK$3,220,000 (2008: HK$3,322,000) 

to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under 

non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Within one year 5,657  4,315

In the second to fifth year inclusive 6,546  4,131

12,203  8,446

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office and factory 

premises. Leases are negotiated for lease term of two to five years (2008: two to three years) and 

rentals are fixed over the relevant lease term.

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The Company had two share option schemes, including pre-listing share option scheme (the “Pre-

Listing Scheme”) and share option scheme (the “Post-Listing Scheme”), which were both adopted 

on 16 May 2006. The terms and conditions of the Pre-Listing Scheme and the Post-Listing Scheme 

are set out below.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(A) Pre-Listing Scheme

The major terms of the Pre-Listing Scheme are summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose was to provide incentives to the participants;

(ii) The participants included directors of the Company or its subsidiaries, senior management 

and other employees of the Group;

(iii) The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be granted under 

the Pre-Listing Scheme shall not exceed 19,555,261 shares;

(iv) In relation to each grantee of the options granted under Pre-Listing Scheme, the right 

of the grantee to exercise the option shall vest in three stages: 30% of share options 

granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number of shares) will vest from the 

expiry of one year from the listing date (6 June 2006) up to the day immediately before 

the fourth anniversary of the listing date; 30% of share options granted (rounded 

down to the nearest whole number of shares) will vest from the expiry of two years 

from the listing date up to the day immediately before the fifth anniversary of the 

listing date; and 40% of the share options granted (round down to the nearest whole 

number of shares) will vest from the expiry of three years from the listing date up to 

the day immediately before the sixth anniversary of the listing date;

(v) The exercise price of an option is HK$0.225 per share; and

(vi) No further options will be granted under the Pre-Listing Scheme after the day 

immediately prior to the date of listing of the Company’s shares.

(B) Post-Listing Scheme

The major terms of the Post-Listing Scheme are summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose was to provide incentives to the participants;

(ii) The participants included any full-time or part-time employees, executives and officers 

of the Company and any of its subsidiaries (including executive, non-executive directors 

and independent non-executive directors of the Company and any of its subsidiaries) 

and business consultants and legal and other professional advisors of the Company 

or its subsidiaries which, in the opinion of the Company’s board of directors, has or 

had made contribution to the Group;
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(B) Post-Listing Scheme (continued)

(iii) The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be granted under the 

Post-Listing Scheme must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company 

from time to time. The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which 

options granted and may be granted to any individual in any 12 months period is 

not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in 

time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to a 

substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director in excess of 0.1% 

of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be 

approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders;

(iv) In relation to each grantee of the options granted under the Post-Listing Scheme, the 

right of the grantee to exercise the option shall vest in three stages: 30% of share 

options granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number of shares) will vest 

from the expiry of one year from the acceptance date of the option (the “Acceptance 

Date”) up to the day immediately before the fourth anniversary of the Acceptance 

Date; 30% of share options granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number of 

shares) will vest from the expiry of two years from the Acceptance Date up to the 

day immediately before the fifth anniversary of the Acceptance Date; and 40% of the 

share options granted (round down to the nearest whole number of shares) will vest 

from the expiry of three years from the Acceptance Date up to the day immediately 

before the sixth anniversary of the Acceptance Date;

(v) The exercise price of an option will be determined by the board of directors of the 

Company and will not be less than the highest of:

• the closing price of the share on the date of grant;

• the average closing price of the share for the 5 business days immediately 

preceding the date of grant;

• the nominal value of the share; and

(vi) A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of options.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Details of the share options outstanding and movements during the two years were as follows:

Number of share options

  Outstanding Outstanding
    Exercise at Granted Exercised at Exercised Lapsed Outstanding

Name of   price 1 April during during 1 April during during 31 March
Grantee the scheme Date of grant Exercising period per share 2007 the year the year 2008 the year the year 2009

  HK$  (Note a) (Note b)  (Note c)

Executive directors
Choi Hon Hing Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2007 to 5.6.2010 0.225 1,333,294 – (1,333,294) – – – –

Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2008 to 5.6.2011 0.225 1,333,294 – – 1,333,294 (1,333,294) – –
Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2009 to 5.6.2012 0.225 1,777,725 – – 1,777,725 – – 1,777,725

Fung Wing Ki, Vicky Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2007 to 5.6.2010 0.225 999,979 – (999,979) – – – –
Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2008 to 5.6.2011 0.225 999,979 – – 999,979 (999,979) – –
Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2009 to 5.6.2012 0.225 1,333,304 – – 1,333,304 – – 1,333,304

Fung Wing Yee, Wynne Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2007 to 5.6.2010 0.225 999,979 – (999,979) – – – –
Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2008 to 5.6.2011 0.225 999,979 – – 999,979 (999,979) – –
Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2009 to 5.6.2012 0.225 1,333,304 – – 1,333,304 – – 1,333,304

Non-executive directors
Tam Hok Lam, Tommy Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 12.6.2008 to 11.6.2011 0.860 – 120,000 – 120,000 – – 120,000

Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 12.6.2009 to 11.6.2012 0.860 – 120,000 – 120,000 – – 120,000
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 12.6.2010 to 11.6.2013 0.860 – 160,000 – 160,000 – – 160,000

Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 9.6.2008 to 8.6.2011 0.860 – 120,000 – 120,000 – – 120,000
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 9.6.2009 to 8.6.2012 0.860 – 120,000 – 120,000 – – 120,000
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 9.6.2010 to 8.6.2013 0.860 – 160,000 – 160,000 – – 160,000

Leung Man Chun, Paul Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 12.6.2008 to 11.6.2011 0.860 – 120,000 – 120,000 – – 120,000
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 12.6.2009 to 11.6.2012 0.860 – 120,000 – 120,000 – – 120,000
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 12.6.2010 to 11.6.2013 0.860 – 160,000 – 160,000 – – 160,000

Advisor to the Group
Fung Ka Pun (note d) Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 8.6.2008 to 7.6.2011 0.860 – 180,000 – 180,000 – – 180,000

Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 8.6.2009 to 7.6.2012 0.860 – 180,000 – 180,000 – – 180,000
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 8.6.2010 to 7.6.2013 0.860 – 240,000 – 240,000 – – 240,000

Employees Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2007 to 5.6.2010 0.225 2,533,330 – (2,292,892) 240,438 (240,438) – –
Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2008 to 5.6.2011 0.225 2,533,330 – – 2,533,330 (2,292,892) – 240,438
Pre-Listing Scheme 16.5.2006 6.6.2009 to 5.6.2012 0.225 3,377,764 – – 3,377,764 – – 3,377,764
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 8.6.2008 to 5.7.2011 0.860 – 150,000 – 150,000 – (45,000) 105,000
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 8.6.2009 to 5.7.2012 0.860 – 150,000 – 150,000 – (45,000) 105,000
Post-Listing Scheme 8.6.2007 8.6.2010 to 5.7.2013 0.860 – 200,000 – 200,000 – (60,000) 140,000
Post-Listing Scheme 18.3.2008 18.3.2009 to 17.3.2012 0.536 – 90,000 – 90,000 – – 90,000
Post-Listing Scheme 18.3.2008 18.3.2010 to 17.3.2013 0.536 – 90,000 – 90,000 – – 90,000
Post-Listing Scheme 18.3.2008 18.3.2011 to 17.3.2014 0.536 – 120,000 – 120,000 – – 120,000

     19,555,261 2,600,000 (5,626,144) 16,529,117 (5,866,582) (150,000) 10,512,535

Weighted average exercise
 price    0.225 0.823 0.225 0.319 0.225 0.860 0.371

Exercisable at the end
of the year        240,438   975,438  
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Notes:

(a) The fair value of the share options granted to non-executive directors and employees under the Post-Listing 
Scheme on 8 June 2007 and 18 March 2008, determined at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
Option Pricing Model was approximately HK$676,000 and HK$89,000, respectively. 600,000 options were 
granted to Mr. Fung Ka Pun who provides services to the Group that are similar to services provided 
by employees of the Group. Therefore, the fair value of the services provided by him is determined by 
reference to the fair value of share options granted on grant date of HK$238,000.

(b) The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares at the dates of exercise was HK$0.452 per 
share.

(c) The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares at the dates of exercise was HK$0.662 per 
share.

(d) Mr. Fung Ka Pun is a substantial shareholder of the Company.

In determining the fair value of the share options granted during both years, the Black-Scholes 

Option Pricing Model has been used. The input into the model were as follows:

8 June 2007  18 March 2008 Notes

Share price HK$0.86  HK$0.49  a

Exercise price HK$0.86  HK$0.536

Expected life of options 4 – 6 years  4 – 6 years  b

Expected volatility 62% – 72%  99% – 117%  c

Expected dividend yield 2.9%  5.1%  d

Risk free rate 4.63%  2.73%

Notes:

(a) The prices of the Company’s share at 16 May 2006, 8 June 2007 and 18 March 2008 are HK$0.55, 
HK$0.86 and HK$0.49 per share, respectively.

(b) The expected life of option ranges from 4 to 6 years from the date of grant.

(c) Expected volatility is determined by using the historical volatility of the price of the Company.

(d) Expected dividend yield is determined by the directors based on the historical record and the expected 
future performance of the Group.

The Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate the fair value of the options. 

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share option are based on 

directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective 

assumptions.

In the current year, share option expenses of approximately HK$1,101,000 (2008: HK$2,115,000) 

have been recognised with a corresponding credit in the Group’s share options reserve.



Winbox International (Holdings) Limited82 annual report 2008/09

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2009

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Group entered into the following related party transactions:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Services fee paid to a related company (Note) 42  82

Note: The beneficial owner of this related company is also a director of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company issued 600,000 share options to Mr. Fung 

Ka Pun. Details of the share options are set out in note 33.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as 

follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000  HK$’000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 4,401  4,426

Post-employment benefits 222  237

Share-based payments 638  1,259

5,261  5,922

The remuneration of directors and key executive is determined by the remuneration committee 

having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
The Group operated a pension scheme under rules and regulations of Mandatory Provident 

Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPF Scheme”). The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately in 

an independently administrated fund. The Group has chosen to follow the minimum statutory 

contribution requirement of 5% of eligible Hong Kong employees’ monthly relevant income but 

limited to the cap of HK$1,000 per month. The contributions are charged to the consolidated 

income statement as incurred.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC and a subsidiary in France are members of 

state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by respective local governments. The subsidiaries 

are required to contribute a specific percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefit 

schemes. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to 

make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and cost charged to 

the consolidated income statement of HK$4,376,000 (2008: HK$4,699,000) represents contribution 

paid or payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

Defined benefit plan

The Group operates an unfunded defined benefit plan for qualifying employees of its subsidiary 

in France. Under the scheme, the employees are entitled to retirement benefits which is based on 

the estimated final salary and the length of the service to the retirement. No other post-retirement 

benefits are provided.
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

Issued and
fully paid up Proportion of

Place of  share nominal value of
 incorporation capital/ issued share capital/
 or registration/ Class of registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations shares held  capital held by the Company Principal activities

  Directly Indirectly

Winbox (BVI) Limited The British Ordinary US$460 100% – Investment holding
Virgin Islands
(“BVI”)

Dardel France Ordinary EUR470,000 – 100% Sale of quality plastic
  and paper boxes for
  luxury consumer goods

Fairich Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Investment holding

First Light Investments BVI Ordinary US$1 – 100% Provision of 
 Limited    sub-contracting

  services (intra group
  service)

Grand Cast Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Investment holding

Golden Hope Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 – 100% Investment holding
 Limited

Winbox Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary shares – 100% Sale of quality plastic and
HK$5,500,000   paper boxes for luxury

  consumer goods
Non-voting

deferred shares
HK$5,500,000

(Note 1)

Winbox Plastic Manufacturing The PRC Contributed HK$30,000,000 – 100% Manufacture and sale of
 (Shenzhen)  (Note 2)  capital   quality plastic and paper

  boxes for luxury consumer
  goods and the provision of

  sub-contracting services
  (intra group service)

Winpac Europe Limited United Kingdom Ordinary £500,000 – 100% Investment holding

Winpac International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Investment holding

Winpac Trading Co. Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$500,000 – 100% Sale of quality plastic and
  paper boxes for luxury

  consumer goods

Winpac SARL France Ordinary EUR10,000 – 100% Property holding
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)
Notes:

(1) The holders of the non-voting deferred shares are not entitled to receive notice of or to attend or vote 
at any general meeting of this subsidiary, and not entitle to participate in the profits of this subsidiary. 
On a winding up, the holders of the non-voting deferred shares are entitled to be paid out of the 
surplus assets a return of the capital paid up on such shares after a total of HK$100,000,000 has been 
distributed in respect of each of the shares.

(2) Wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the year or at any time 

during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, 

principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, 

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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RESULTS

Year ended 31 March

2005  2006  2007  2008  2009

HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

 (Note) (Note) (Note)

Revenue 130,581  151,055  156,508  176,803  166,505

Profit (loss) for the year

 attributable to equity holders

 of the Company 30,186  26,804  28,051  22,180  (22,871)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March

2005  2006  2007  2008  2009

HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

 (Note) (Note) (Note)

Total assets 185,434  200,092  217,629  251,724  198,029

Total liabilities (26,500) (35,478 ) (29,625 ) (44,313 ) (20,932)

158,934  164,614  188,004  207,411  177,097

Equity attributable to equity

 holders of the Company 158,934  164,614  188,004  207,411  177,097

Note: The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 September 2005 and became the holding company 
of the Group with effect from 16 May 2006 as a result of a reorganisation scheme as set out in the prospectus 
dated 24 May 2006 issued by the Company. Accordingly, the results of the Group for each of the three years 
ended 31 March 2007 have been prepared on a combined basis as if the current group structure had been in 
existence throughout the years concerned. In addition, the assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 
2005 and 2006 have been prepared on a combined basis as if the current group structure had been in existence 
at those dates.
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